The Phone Handbook



From the Office of

Minnesota Attorney General Lori Swanson

www.ag.state.mn.us

The Phone Handbook is intended to provide Minnesota consumers with the information they need to make informed decisions in a rapidly changing telecommunications environment. State agency contact and other resource telephone numbers are listed on Page 21.

The Attorney General's Office answers questions about consumer issues. If you have a consumer question or complaint, contact the Attorney General's Office in writing, by phone, or check out our website:

Minnesota Attorney General's Office

1400 Bremer Tower 445 Minnesota Street St. Paul, MN 55101

(651) 296-3353 or 1-800-657-3787 TTY: (651) 297-7206 or 1-800-366-4812 (TTY numbers are for callers using teletypewriter devices.)

www.ag.state.mn.us

The Phone Handbook is written and published by the Minnesota Attorney General's Office. This edition was published in April 2007.

The Attorney General's Office is an equal opportunity employer who values diversity.





Table Of Contents

Local Service	5
Do I Have A Choice For My Local Telephone Service?	5
What Is The Cost Of Local Phone Service?	
How Can I Reduce The Price Of My Local Phone Bill?	5
What Are The Charges On My Telephone Bill, And Are They Required?	
Is Inside Wire Insurance A Good Deal?	
Is There Any Assistance Available To Help Pay For My Telephone Service?	
Telephone Assistance Plan ("TAP")	
Link-Up America	
Telephone Equipment Distribution ("TED")	7
Telephone Service For The Deaf	7
What If There Is A Delay In Obtaining My Telephone Service?	8
How Can I Prevent Disconnection of My Phone Service	
Long Distance	a
Which Long Distance Company Is The Best Company?	
Do I Have To Sign Up With A Long Distance Carrier?	
Local Access and Transport Area ("LATA")	
A Long Distance "Subscription"	
How Can I Choose The Best Company?	
Combined Billing Or Not?	10
Hidden Fees: A Word Of Caution	
What Are The Added Fees And Surcharges On My Long Distance Bill?	
Alternative Methods For Making Long Distance Calls	
Pre-paid Calling Cards	
Dial Around	
Can I Save Money Using 10-10 Companies?	12
Wireless (Or Cellular) Phones For Long Distance	
Dhone Frond	17
Phone Fraud	
Protect Yourself From Fraud	
Why Is My Phone Bill From A New Long Distance Company?	
What Should I Do If I Have Been Slammed?	
How Can I Prevent Slamming?	
What Is Cramming?	
How Do I Prevent Cramming?	
How Can I Prevent Pay-Per-Call Charges?	
Call 1 DIOCK 1-700 INUITIOGIS!	13

Making Calls Away From Home	16
Things To Consider When Evaluating Whether To Purchase Wireless (Or Cellular) Service	
What Should I Know About Wireless Contracts?	16
Where Will My Phone Work?	17
Are Rebates On Wireless Phones And Equipment A Good Deal?	
The Customer Service Representative I Talked To Wasn't Helpful	
Why Are There Charges On My Wireless Bill For Third Party Services?	
What Are My Options When Using A Pay Phone?	
Telemarketing And Privacy	19
How Did They Get My Name?	19
Will Placing My Name On The Do Not Call List Stop Telemarketing Calls?	
How Else Can I Stop Telemarketers From Calling?	
Can I Use Caller ID To Stop Telemarketers?	
Telemarketing Disclosures	
Clues To A Con	
Resources	21
Additional Consumer Information	22



Local Service

Do I Have A Choice For My Local Telephone Service?

Minnesota customers can often choose between companies when signing up for local phone service, though some areas of the state still have only one available provider. To find out if there is competition for telephone service in your area, contact the Minnesota Department of Commerce. The Department of Commerce maintains a list of local service providers available in Minnesota cities, along with contact information for each provider.

Technological advances have also given customers increased options for their telecommunications services. Consumers may now obtain service from the cable company, choose to use their wireless phones exclusively, and even place calls over their broadband lines using special equipment and VoIP, or Voice over Internet Protocol, technology. While the service may function essentially the same as traditional, landline telephone service, consumers should note that cable, wireless, and VoIP service are not subject to the same telephone service standards and regulations. Consumers should also consider whether their telephone service will function in case of emergencies and power outages, and whether enhanced 9-1-1 ("E911") technology, which allows operators to automatically identify a caller's number and location, is supported.

What Is The Cost Of Local Phone Service?

The cost of local service varies widely. Before selecting a local service provider, call several and request a price list of all the services they offer. This list should give you a good idea of what is available to you and what it costs. If you do not understand the information, ask your local telephone company about it. The rates are also part of the company's "tariffs," which are filed with the Minnesota Department of Commerce and available to consumers. Be sure to ask about all applicable surcharges and fees so that you can compare among service providers. It is also a good idea to ask in advance what you can expect your first bill to look like.

Companies are increasingly promoting "bundles," or packages of services combining your local service with extra features like voicemail or call waiting, long distance, Internet, wireless service, and cable or satellite television. When responding to any marketing or offers for bundled services, make sure that the price being offered will not expire after a few months, and then be increased. You should also note whether you are being asked to sign a fixed-term contract and whether an early termination fee will apply if you seek to cancel any of the services before the end of the contract term.

How Can I Reduce The Price Of My Local Phone Bill?

Look closely at your phone bill. Review your extra features, such as Call-Waiting and Caller ID, and cancel those that you do not use. Custom packages that include several features for a flat fee are only a value if you consistently use many of the features. The savings in monthly charges could be a lot. For example, if you use "voice messaging," a service that costs \$6.95 per month, you will pay \$83.40 in a year! To save money in the long run, you could buy an answering machine (with remote access) for around \$50.00.

If you don't make very many local calls, you may be able to lower your bill by changing your local phone to "measured service." This means that you will be billed based on your actual per minute local usage instead of a single rate. Since you will be charged an installation fee when setting up a new service, this is the best time to switch



from basic service to measured service (or vice versa). Call your local telephone company for details on measured service.

Other features like Last-Call-Return and 3-Way-Calling may be automatically available on your telephone at a cost of about a dollar each time you use them. If you use such services often, it may be cheaper to pay for them on a monthly basis.

What Are The Charges On My Telephone Bill, And Are They Required?

Telephone bills have become more complex in recent years. The following list identifies and describes some of the various charges that you may see on your bill.

"9-1-1, Tele-Relay, and Telephone Assistance Plan Surcharges" - Local telephone companies are required to collect these monthly fees from all telephone service subscribers. The money is distributed directly to the agencies that operate the services. The 911 surcharge helps maintain the 911 emergency network. The Minnesota Relay Service is a communications service that connects deaf, speech impaired, and hard-of-hearing persons with hearing persons via the telephone. The Telephone Assistance Plan surcharge helps offset the cost of basic telephone service for low-income senior citizens and disabled persons.

"Number Portability Fee" - Local telephone companies are allowed to collect this fee to recover costs associated with allowing customers to retain their existing telephone numbers when switching to another local provider. Local companies are permitted, but not required, by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") to pass on these costs even if a customer has no local service choice. Local telephone companies may continue to assess the charge for only five years, and some companies have already stopped billing for this charge.

"Federal Access Charge" or "Federal Subscriber Line Charge" - This fee is charged by local telephone companies to all customers to cover part of the cost of operating and maintaining the telephone network used to provide interstate long distance telephone service. The charge is not a government charge or tax. The maximum allowable access charges per telephone line are set by the FCC, but local telephone companies are free to charge a lesser amount or not at all. The fee varies depending on the company providing your service. The maximum charge is currently \$6.50 for a single line.

Is Inside Wire Insurance A Good Deal?

Several local telephone companies sell "inside wire insurance." Inside wire insurance is an unregulated and optional service. Telephone companies claim that repairs to the wiring inside your home may be costly if you do not have this insurance.

When deciding whether you need this service, keep in mind that damage to inside wires is very rare. In the event you have a problem with your inside wiring, an electrician or other independent repair person may be able to repair it for less than the phone company would charge. If you live in an apartment, it is likely the landlord is responsible to repair any wiring problems. If you are already paying for the insurance, it can be canceled by a simple phone call to your local telephone company.



"Universal Connectivity Fee" or "Universal Service Fee" - All telephone companies that provide voice service between states and internationally, including wireless and VoIP providers, must contribute a percentage of their revenues derived from these services into the federal Universal Service Fund ("USF"). This fund helps make local telephone service affordable to rural and low-income consumers. It also helps provide inexpensive Internet access to schools, libraries, and rural health care providers. Although not required to do so, many service providers choose to pass their contribution costs to the USF on to their customers in the form of this charge on customer bills. This charge is not a government-mandated charge or tax, nor is it required to be a separate line item on your bill. The charge may not exceed the provider's actual cost of contributing to the USF.

'Federal Excise Tax" - This tax was imposed in 1898 to help pay for the Spanish-American War. It was designed as a tax on wealthy Americans, back when phone service was considered a luxury. The collection of this tax on long distance service has been eliminated, and the tax will also no longer be imposed on cellular or VoIP services. A 3% excise tax on local phone calls will still be charged.

Is There Any Assistance Available To Help Pay For My Telephone Service?

The following assistance programs are available to help you afford basic phone service.

Telephone Assistance Plan ("TAP")

TAP is a state program that offers a monthly discount of \$1.75 on local phone service for Minnesotans enrolled in certain government programs or those whose incomes are at or below 135% of federal poverty guidelines. The discount is available for local wireline telephone service only. Visit the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission website (www.puc.state.mn.us) to download an application or learn whether you qualify. You may also direct questions to your local telephone company, the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, or the Minnesota Department of Commerce.

Link-Up America

This is a federally funded program that will provide a credit of up to \$8.62 each month on your bill. Eligibility is the same as for the Minnesota TAP program. Not all carriers offer Lifeline, and credits may vary by carrier as well. More information is available from your local telephone company or the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission.

Telephone Equipment Distribution ("TED")

The TED program provides equipment for those who have a hearing loss, speech, and/or mobility impairment that limits their use of a standard telephone. To be eligible, you must have phone service or have applied for phone service, and meet certain income guidelines. Contact the Minnesota Department of Human Services for more information or an application.

Telephone Service For The Deaf

If you or someone you know uses a teletypewriter device ("TTY"), you may want to take advantage of Minnesota Relay Service to make calls between special TTY telephones and standard phones. TTY callers can dial the Relay service, give the requested information, and the operator will place the call. The operator will read the TTY-user's words aloud to the voice-user and type the voice-user's words to the TTY-user. All calls are confidential. The service operates 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. To place a call through Minnesota Relay, just dial 7-1-1 or 1-800-627-3529.



What If There Is A Delay In Obtaining My Telephone Service?

If there is a delay in obtaining local telephone service, your telephone company may be required to offer you credit on your monthly bill or to provide you with temporary use of a wireless telephone. If you have not obtained service by the date you requested, you should contact your local telephone company to explore your options.

How Can I Prevent Disconnection Of My Phone Service

Your local telephone service can be disconnected only if you fail to pay your local bill. Notice must be given at least five days prior to disconnection, excluding Sundays and legal holidays. Your <u>local</u> telephone service cannot be shut off for failure to pay long distance or "900" calls if you pay the remainder of your bill on time. If you have questions regarding disconnection of utility service, contact the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission.

Complaints?

If you have a complaint that you are unable to resolve or simply would like to inform someone about the quality of service you have received, please notify the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission. The Minnesota Attorney General's Office also helps resolve problems with telephone companies.





Long Distance

Which Long Distance Company Is The Best Company?

People often ask the Attorney General's Office which long-distance company they should choose. Although we cannot recommend a particular carrier to you, we can give you some information to make your choice easier. Not only are there several companies from which to choose, there are different calling methods to pick from as well. To make long distance calls from home, you can subscribe to a long distance telephone company or use an alternative method as described in this chapter. The Minnesota Department of Commerce now lists all long distance carriers on its website.

Do I Have To Sign Up With A Long Distance Carrier?

Joining a long distance company is entirely optional. In many ways a long distance membership can be compared to a health club membership. If you make good use of a health club membership it can be an extraordinary value. However, if you never make it to the gym it becomes a waste of money to maintain your membership. If you do not make long distance calls or if you simply do not wish to have a long distance company, you can cancel the service at any time. In doing so, you can still make long distance calls. You will just have to use a different method of dialing if you need to make a long distance call. Canceling will probably cost you a one-time fee that is charged by your local telephone company as an administrative cost. Thereafter, you will not be billed for long distance usage fees, minimum monthly fees, or universal service charges if you have no usage.

You may wish to verify your long distance carrier by dialing "00" from your home telephone simply as a precaution. If you wish to make any changes in your long distance service provider, call your local telephone company. You can also ask the local telephone representative to tell you about its free consumer protection features such as a "PIC freeze" or any third party billing blocking service that may prevent future problems. Basic protections should be free, so use caution before signing up for expensive enhanced protection services.

Local Access and Transport Area ("LATA") is a term used to describe an arbitrary region designated by the FCC during the original break up of the Bell system. If you are unsure of the boundaries of your LATA calling area, check in the front of your local telephone book. There you should find a map of the 5 Minnesota LATAs.

A Long Distance "Subscription"

If you subscribe to a long distance carrier, they will carry the calls made from your home phone when you dial 1+ the phone number. In Minnesota, you need to choose a long distance company for two types of calling: one for intra-LATA calling and one for inter-LATA calling. Your intra-LATA company handles long distance calls within your local toll calling area. Your inter-LATA company handles long distance calls outside your local toll calling area including in-state, state-to-state and international calling. Most companies carry both types of calls. Your local telephone company and the Minnesota Department of Commerce can tell you which companies offer these services in your area, and provide contact information for the companies. You may be surprised to learn there are over 200 companies offering long distance service in Minnesota!

How Can I Choose The Best Company?

Do you call mostly within Minnesota? Do you call all across the country? Do you call internationally? What time of day do you make most of your calls? Do you typically make very short or very long calls? To do your best



bargain shopping, you need to be aware of your typical calling activity. A telephone company can best match a plan to your needs if you explain your distinctive calling habits. Most long distance carriers offer calling plans, like "Dime-a Minute" or "5 Cent Sundays." These special plans can be a good deal, but make sure they apply to the type of calls you are likely to make. Advertised deals on television usually apply only to calls made outside of our state. Most of the time you will pay more for calls made within Minnesota.

Hidden Fees: A Word Of Caution...

When dealing with long distance carriers, make sure you understand all the rates, time of day restrictions, and limits of any promotional offers. Do not focus only on the per-minute price, but make sure to take into account monthly service fees and other charges that could be applied to your account. Minnesota law requires long distance companies to tell you their rates when they are selling their service. They are also required to send you a printed price list when you start service. Be wary of a telemarketer's price quote that sounds too good to be true. Many people report that they did not receive the

Combined Billing Or Not?

Long distance companies are currently moving toward direct billing of their customers rather than combining their bill with the customers local telephone bill. Recently many long distance companies have begun to add a charge for billing their services on your local telephone bill. You may be willing to pay a fee for the convenience of writing only one check to cover local and long distance telephone service. Direct billing, on the other hand, can mean less confusion on your local telephone bill and more accountability by your long distance company.

rates they were quoted over the phone and are unable to remedy the situation. If you opt to casually switch service over the telephone, it is prudent to wait for the printed material to arrive before you make a large number of calls.

What Are The Added Fees And Surcharges On My Long Distance Bill?

Many long distance companies have added "pass through fees" and "minimum monthly fees" to their customers' bills. Your telephone company may or may not be willing to negotiate these charges, but do not be fooled into believing they are merely a "tax." Most of these line-item charges are collected at the discretion of the long distance company, and the money stays with the company. If you do not like the price of your calling plan coupled with the fees and surcharges, your best course of action is to shop around for a better fit.

Double-Check Your Internet Service Provider "Dial Up" Number!

From time to time, it is important to double-check the telephone number your computer is using to contact your ISP. In spite of warning on ISP sign up materials, consumers (or their children) accidentally set their ISP service to dial up long distance numbers on occasion. Needless to say, bills resulting from this type of error are enormous. Worse yet, no one may be willing to give you a credit or discount since the long distance company and the ISP are usually not related. Both claim they aren't making money off the calls, and that you as the consumer are responsible. The best way to prevent this from happening is to educate your family and to monitor your computer as it dials up.



Minimum Usage Fees are becoming increasingly common and range from as little as 30 cents to more than \$7 per month. These are fees you pay whether or not you make any calls. Remember to consider this monthly fee when figuring out your average per-minute usage charge. It can make an enormous difference for low volume long distance users.

Universal Connectivity Fee or Universal Service Fee is another charge that may appear on your long distance bill. The charge is passed along from your long distance company to you to pay for an FCC program that helps pay for telephone and Internet services to libraries, schools, hospitals and rural areas. The fund also helps assist low-income consumers with initiation costs and monthly fees associated with local telephone service. The amount that long distance companies charge varies considerably. Some companies charge a fixed monthly charge while others assess this charge as a percentage of your bill.

In-State Recovery Fee/Intrastate Access Recovery Charge

Some companies impose a charge like this to recover amounts they pay your local phone company to carry your in-state long distance and local toll calls over its lines. These fees are generally around \$1.95. These charges are not required by the government.

Carrier Cost Recovery Charge

This fee helps recover costs for providing long distance service including expenses for regulatory fees, programs and compliance, connection and account servicing. This fee is not a tax or charge required by the government.

Bill Statement Fee

Some long distance companies assess a charge for putting your long distance charges on your local telephone bill, receiving duplicate bills, or even receiving paper copies of your bill.

Alternative Methods For Making Long Distance Calls

As mentioned, there are ways to make long distance calls without joining a long distance company. The three most common methods are buying a prepaid calling card, using a 10-10 XXX dial around code or contracting for a cellular phone.

Pre-paid Calling Cards

One alternative is to use a pre-paid calling card, which works like a debit card and is sold in retail stores or even in vending machines. Their rates can be very low—the company saves a lot of money by not generating a bill for their customers. You dial a toll free (1-800, etc.) access number, punch in a code, and then the meter runs until the minutes are used. Some people complain that there are too many numbers to dial, but others believe the low rates and low hassle are worth it. Buy pre-paid cards from long distance companies and retail outlets that you trust. Start-up phone companies have been known to fold before consumers have used all of their pre-paid minutes. Before you purchase a card, make sure you read and understand all its terms and conditions, which may hold hidden charges or expiration periods. It may also be possible for the price of the service to change at anytime, so you may wish to check on the rate periodically before adding additional minutes.

Dial Around

Dial around access codes let you use the 10-10 (or 101) prefix to bypass your regular long distance carrier and purchase calls one at a time from your home phone. Many companies advertise 10-10 numbers through TV ads.



Can I Save Money Using 10-10 Companies?

Most of the nationally advertised 10-10 companies are owned and operated by the major long distance companies. For example, MCI owns Telecom*USA (10-10-321 and 10-10-220) and VarTec owns DimeLine (10-10-811). Since it is hard to identify the actual name of a 10-10 company, finding a toll free customer service number can be very difficult, but every dial around company has one. You can also ask any long distance carriers for information about dial around services that they offer as most of them have a code.

Ask the company to send you a printed price list before you start experimenting with the company's service. If you cannot contact a company to ask questions before you use their service, you should be concerned about how you will get help if there is a problem after you have been charged.

Most dial around companies charge consumers a monthly service charge and other fees that reduce any perminute savings. Several 10-10 companies add a Universal Service Fund ("USF") fee to the bill as well. Be aware that your regular long distance company may already be charging you this fee, so you could end up paying twice. Also, pay attention to minimum call times when choosing a 10-10 company. Some calling programs have a three-minute minimum or a 50-cent connection fee. Some programs offer a low, flat rate for "Up to 20 Minutes," but that same flat rate applies even if you reach an answering machine or only talk for one minute. If you cannot use the full time, a seemingly good deal can turn into a costly call!

Wireless (Or Cellular) Phones For Long Distance

Some customers are choosing to use their wireless phones to make long distance calls. If you have a contract that includes long distance calls as part of your fee, this could well be an economical way to call long distance. This booklet discusses wireless service at greater length on page 16.





Phone Fraud

Protect Yourself From Fraud

Read your phone bill closely. If you see unfamiliar charges or companies on your bill, contact the company that is billing you and demand an explanation and proof that you authorized the services appearing on your bill. Look out for the following common types of fraudulent activities.

Why Is My Phone Bill From A New Long Distance Company?

"Slamming" is when your long distance or local service provider is switched to another company without your knowledge or permission. You may not know you were slammed until you get a phone bill from a different company often charging higher rates.

What Should I Do If I Have Been Slammed?

If you think you have been slammed, call your local phone company to tell them and ask to be switched back to your preferred company. Request that any switching fees be refunded to you. You should also file a complaint with the Minnesota Attorney General's Office.

Under Minnesota and Federal law, the company that slammed you must prove that you authorized the change in companies. If they cannot, they are required to write off any accrued charges. You should act promptly in order for this remedy to work effectively. Many companies will offer to re-bill the calls based on the rates of your former company. If the company presents some proof that you, or an adult member of your household, authorized the change, it may be appropriate to resolve the matter by accepting such a "re-rating" of your bill.

How Can I Prevent Slamming?

You can take steps to avoid being slammed. Most importantly, put yourself in control by making it your policy not to switch telephone providers through a telemarketer. If you are interested in switching phone companies, call the companies directly and ask for their best calling plans and promotional rates. If you receive a call from a telemarketer selling local or long distance service and you are interested in the offer, your best move is to *call the company directly* to clarify any special deals or rates. Always ask for the rates in writing so you have proof of the offer.

To prevent slamming you can also ask your local telephone company for a "PIC Freeze." This means that your long distance company cannot be switched unless you personally contact your local phone company and request the switch. Regardless of how your long distance service is billed, you need to contact your local telephone company for a PIC Freeze for technological reasons.

Finally, be careful when filling out sweepstakes forms or endorsing "free" checks from long distance companies. These are marketing techniques often used to entice people into switching their long distance service. The fine print on the document that you sign could authorize a new company to provide your long distance service.

What Is Cramming?

Your local telephone company may bill for services that they or other companies provide, such as information or



entertainment services accessed through 900 numbers, club memberships, voice mail, paging, or Internet services. If you are being billed for services you did not order, you may have been "crammed." Review your phone bill for charges you don't recognize. Cramming charges are very easy to overlook and sometimes appear on your phone bill with ambiguous terms such as "charges and credits" or "enhanced services" to make you think they are authorized.

What Can I Do If I Get Crammed?

If you are being billed for something you did not order contact your local phone company right away to dispute the unauthorized charges and have them removed from your bill. Be sure to ask for a refund of all payments that you may have mistakenly paid on previous bills. Protect yourself by following up in writing and keeping copies of important documents.

In 2004, a new state law was enacted to help prevent unwanted charges from appearing on local phone bills, and to simplify the process for getting the charges removed from a bill. Under the law, consumers may dispute any unauthorized, third-party charges that appear on their telephone bill by contacting the local telephone company directly. The law states that the local provider is required to remove the charge and to contact the third-party biller on behalf of the consumer. The third-party biller must also provide documentation showing it had the consumer's authorization to place charges on the local telephone bill. If such authorization cannot be provided, the charges (going back not more than 6 months) must be reversed by the local telephone company.

How Do I Prevent Cramming?

Many times you unknowingly give someone permission to charge you for unwanted phone service when you fill out a sweepstakes entry form, sign up for free coupons online, or use a toll free service like a date line or psychic line. Always read the front and back of any prize registration form, sign-up sheet, or contract that you fill out, *especially if it asks for your phone number*.

What If I Get Billed For Unauthorized Calls To An Adult Entertainment Service?

Under Minnesota law, if a minor or a vulnerable adult made calls without your authorization to pay-per-call services, such as those to 1-900 numbers, you are not liable for calls. You can dispute any charges that you believe are incorrect by calling the company whose toll-free number is listed on your bill, but make sure that you follow up your dispute in writing. Until the dispute is resolved, you can pay only those portions of the bill with which you

Charges For Downloadable Adult Access:

Be wary of adult entertainment web pages offering "no credit card" access. These sites may be equipped with programs that download a new icon on to your computer. When the icon is clicked, your Internet Service Provider (ISP) is disconnected and the new program redials your phone to gain access to adult sites by way of an international telephone number. Some of the dialers skirt blocks you may have put on your phone service by using dial around access codes (10-10 numbers). Internet connections that use these numbers are extremely expensive. They are also very difficult to dispute with your long distance company. If you are concerned that access to adult sites may fall into the wrong hands in your home, it may be wise to use an Internet filter or content-control software.



agree. When you send in your payment, call your local phone company and indicate how you want the payment divided up. Your local and long distance phone service cannot be disconnected for nonpayment of pay-per-call charges, however, your long distance company may attempt to disconnect your long distance service for nonpayment of international charges.

How Can I Prevent Pay-Per-Call Charges?

Talk to your children and other family members about these numbers so that they understand these calls are not free, and in fact can quickly mean bills for hundreds or thousands of dollars. By law, you are not liable for unauthorized calls made by minors or vulnerable adults to pay-per-call services, but getting the charges removed can be a real hassle. You can also block access to many of these services by calling your local phone company's customer service line.

Can I Block 1-900 Numbers?

You can get 1-900 number blocking from your local phone company at no charge.



Making Calls Away From Home

There may be times when you want to make calls when you are not at home or work. At these times, you can carry a wireless phone with you or use a public pay phone with a prepaid phone card, calling card number, or just coins.

Things To Consider When Evaluating Whether To Purchase Wireless (Or Cellular) Service.

Consumers who want a wireless or cellular phone should evaluate their options carefully. A contract for wireless service may represent a one or two year commitment and once you sign the contract it can be costly to get out of it early. Therefore, it is important to choose a service provider and plan that work for you. There are many different companies offering a variety of service plans and equipment. Generally, many of the phones offered by the different carriers are roughly equivalent to each other, so you should mostly focus on the terms of the plan being offered. The right plan for you will depend on the way you will use the phone. You should ask yourself a number of questions before signing a contract for wireless service, including:

- ➤ How often will I use my phone?
- ➤ At what time of day will I make most of my calls?
- > Do I expect to make most calls within my area or will I use the phone regularly when traveling?
- Will most of my calls be local, or will I make domestic or international long distance calls?
- ➤ How long am I willing to commit to a particular carrier's service?
- ➤ Will I need text messaging, internet access, a camera or other more advanced features?
- ➤ Will I use my wireless phone to replace traditional phone service?
- > Do I want a plan I will share with other family members?

What Should I Know About Wireless Contracts?

When purchasing wireless phone service, read the contract carefully. You can specifically ask the company to explain the amount you will be charged for service, the amount of any government mandated taxes and fees, and variable charges for extra minutes or for roaming outside your service territory. You can also ask for an estimate of the amount of your first bill, which may include more than one month's service. Be aware that some contracts allow wireless carriers to change the price during the term of the contract, and the carrier may also impose a hefty termination fee if you want to cancel the service before the end of the contract. Keep your contract even after you've started your service so you'll have the document in the future if there is a dispute about your service down the road. Also, be careful about making changes to your service during the term of the contract and ask whether the

Tip: Get into the habit of keeping any contracts, service agreements, or other written information you get regarding your phone service. They will be very helpful to refer to if you have questions or disputes.



change will extend the length of the contract term. If you feel uncomfortable signing a contract, but also feel you need a wireless phone, consider getting a pre-paid cell phone. That way your commitment is limited and if you don't like the service, you aren't tied down with a contract.

Where Will My Phone Work?

A wireless carrier's coverage area is based on the geographic area in which the carrier has built out its network. While carriers often provide maps showing areas they say they have coverage, these maps may only be rough guidelines of the area where the phone will work. The companies often say that they do not guarantee that a phone will have coverage in a particular area. When deciding whether to purchase wireless phone service or when choosing between carriers, you may want to ask your friends and neighbors about their coverage with their wireless companies. You should also inquire whether the carrier offers users a trial period, usually 14 to 30 days, during which a customer can return the phone without a penalty if the coverage is insufficient in their area. If the phones work in an area, but the service quality is poor so that calls drop, you experience static or otherwise have a bad connection, you should document your concerns and contact your carrier right away to make a complaint. Carriers may be more inclined to be responsive to the problem if you call right away, but less inclined to help if you continue your usage and make lots of calls. Beware the company's offer of a new phone to fix the problem. By getting the new phone you may be entered into a new contract and it is possible that the new phone won't work any better in your area than the old one.

Are Rebates On Wireless Phones And Equipment A Good Deal?

It's a good idea to do some homework before signing a wireless contract based on a rebate offer. Often the rebates offered aren't instant rebates allowing the customer to get the benefit right away, but instead require the customer to keep their phone packaging and copies of their bills. Customers may not be able to claim the rebate until they have had the phone for some time, and even afterwards it may take a long time for them to receive your refund. For this reason, instant rebates are preferable. Consumers should read the fine print, and can even check out a rebate company online to see whether other consumers have had difficulty obtaining a rebate's benefits from a particular company.

The Customer Service Representative I Talked To Wasn't Helpful.

If you have difficulty dealing with a wireless carrier's customer service representative, you should ask to speak to a supervisor. Also, document your experience so that you can provide a clear picture of the treatment you received and then file a complaint with one of the government agencies that handle wireless issues. While the wireless companies aren't legally required to provide good customer service, documentation about your experience may make it easier to resolve your complaint.

Why Are There Charges On My Wireless Bill For Third Party Services?

Many wireless carriers aren't just charging for their wireless service anymore, but have opened up their bills as a platform for billing for third parties. Carriers often include extra charges on bills for ring tones, text messaging and other services downloaded from third parties or through the carrier. If you make a change to your service that will result in an extra charge, you may want to ask the carrier for specific information on the amount of any increase in your monthly bill. Further, you should always review your bill carefully each month to see whether the charges are accurate. If you notice an inaccurate or unauthorized charge, contact your wireless carrier immediately to dispute it. Many carriers will remove recent charges, but may balk at the idea of removing charges that are more than a few months old. Also, if you provide a phone to your child, you may want to set some ground rules in advance about the child's usage and explain that there are extra charges for extra services. You may also want to contact your carrier to find out if they offer blocking for third party charges on the phone your child uses.



What Are My Options When Using A Pay Phone?

Once heavily regulated, pay phones now operate more like vending machines. As a result, pay phone operators set their own prices for the service they provide - sometimes many dollars per minute. However, unlike vending machines, the price for calling may not be clearly posted. Some pay phones are illegally set up to block your ability to use the long distance company of your choice. If you find this to be the case, hang up and try to find another pay phone. Before you make a call, read the fine print posted on the pay phone, and follow some of these options that may help you and your family save money:

Calling card calls: Calling cards issued by your long distance company are usually the lowest cost option. Make sure you know about any surcharges, monthly fees or minimums, in addition to the rates for using a calling card. Remember to guard your calling card and access numbers. If your card is stolen or abused, it can be difficult to dispute the unauthorized charges.

Pre-paid calling card calls: Unlike standard calling cards, pre-paid calling cards work like a debit card and are often sold in retail stores or even vending machines. You dial a toll free access number and then punch in a code. Buy pre-paid cards from long distance companies and retail outlets that you trust. Before you purchase a card, make sure you read the terms and limitations. Be aware that it is possible that the charges for the service will change even after you purchase the card.

Collect Calling using a 1-800 access code: This is a less perilous way of making the old fashioned "collect call," and charges for these calls will appear on the bill of the person you are calling. You may save money compared to direct dial and operator assisted calls, but be sure to listen for rate information before the call is connected. The FCC requires that companies disclose their prices before your call goes through.

Direct dial calls: Calls made by dialing a long distance number and paying the required amount or using your credit card are direct dial calls. Direct dialed calls from a pay phone are not cheap, but there are fewer surprises associated with them.

Operator assisted calls: Operator assisted calls, which are long distance calls made from a pay phone by dialing "0" plus the number, are almost always the highest cost, particularly when you use a live operator. In addition, you are limited to the long distance company that provides service for that pay phone.



Telemarketing and Privacy

How Did They Get My Name?

Many magazines, credit card companies, banks, clubs, organizations, charities and retailers offer their customer or donor lists to other businesses for a fee. Professional marketing companies and the credit bureaus that provide information on creditworthy consumers also compile lists. Your name and phone number may be collected whenever you call a 1-800 number, as well as when you fill out surveys or forms on the Internet. Information supplied to the State of Minnesota, such as for your driver's license, may also be sold to marketers. Each time you call someone with Caller ID your name and telephone number are revealed unless you block the release of your name and number. Many people with unlisted or non-published numbers are surprised to find out that this information is released when they call someone with Caller ID.

Will Placing My Name On The Do Not Call List Stop Telemarketing Calls?

The Minnesota "Do Not Call List" law allows Minnesota consumers who do not want to be contacted by telemarketers to register their phone numbers on the Minnesota Do Not Call list. In 2003, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") began registering consumers on a National Do Not Call list. The best way to register your number on both state and national Do Not Call lists is to sign-up at www.ftc.gov/donotcall. Each month, any new Minnesota numbers on the national list will be sent to the Minnesota Department of Commerce and will be included on the state list.

Unfortunately, placing your name on the Do Not Call lists will not stop all telemarketing calls. For instance, the Minnesota law still allows charitable organizations and political organizations to continue to place telemarketing calls to Minnesotans on the Do Not Call list. Businesses with a prior relationship with a customer and solicitors who do not intend to complete a sales transaction over the phone are also allowed to legally continue their telemarketing under the Minnesota law.

How Else Can I Stop Telemarketers From Calling?

You have the power to stop unwanted telemarketing calls by requesting that a company remove your name from the company's call list. Follow-up with companies in writing and clearly state that you no longer wish to receive any calls from them.

You can also reduce the number of telemarketers that have your name on their lists by telling the companies and organizations you do business with not to give out or sell your name, address, or telephone number. When you order from a catalog, sign up for utility service, apply for a credit card, or use a check, include a note stating: "Do not rent, trade, sell or give away my name, address or phone number." You may request that the state not sell your driver's license information.

The three major credit bureaus, in addition to maintaining your credit report, sell to companies lists of individuals who meet a certain credit criteria. To remove your name from the generated lists, you should call the "Opt Out" hotline for the three major credit bureaus Equifax, Experian and Trans Union at: 1-888-50PT-OUT (1-888-567-8688) or "Opt Out" online at: www.optoutprescreen.com.



Can I Use Caller ID To Stop Telemarketers?

Some new devices and services appearing on the market are designed to give you more control over incoming calls. These services will have one-time and/or monthly charges and may have only limited success. Caller ID is a

service that uses a display unit attached to your phone to identify who is calling you. You may lease or purchase your Caller ID display unit at a retail outlet or from your local phone company, but you must pay your local phone company a monthly fee for the identification data. Because of technical limitations or because callers have blocked the release of the information, Caller ID is not able to identify many calls. Many telemarketers use these limitations to prevent you from using Caller ID to screen them out.

There are two ways to block your name and number from being released to another person's Caller ID - per-call and per-line blocking. When you use Caller ID blocking, your calls show up on the other person's Caller ID box as "anonymous" or "private." Contact your local phone company to find out how to protect your privacy when using Caller ID.

Caller ID blocking does not work for calls to toll-free numbers - your telephone number is always released to the company or person you are calling. When calling a 1-800 number, you have the right to request that your name and number not be used for telemarketing purposes.

Telemarketing Disclosures

Anyone soliciting business over the phone must tell you that it is a sales call and whom he or she represents before they make their pitch. If it is a prize promotion, they must tell you that no purchase or payment is necessary to enter or win. If you are asked to pay for a prize, hang up. illegal for telemarketers lt's misrepresent any information, including facts about their goods, investment opportunities or services. If you think that a telemarketer lied about a product or service, report the company to the Attorney General's Office or the Better Business Bureau

Clues To A Con

Be on guard against crooked callers and other con artists who use tactics like these:

- Promise you prizes for buying products such as pens, office supplies, vitamins, beauty and health products, or "Say No to Drugs" merchandise. These products are usually sold at ridiculously high prices. You may be asked to pay \$500 to \$2,000 for items that are worth less than \$100.
- Demand your credit card number or checking account number.

- Pressure you to act quickly.
- Keep you on the phone for long periods of time.
- Offer to send someone (often an over night delivery service) to pick up your cash or check immediately, or want you to wire money to them.
- Refuse to send written materials about their products or company.
- Promise to recover money you have lost to other companies.



Resources

Consumer Protection

Attorney General's Office

Consumer Protection 1400 Bremer Tower 445 Minnesota Street St. Paul, MN 55101 (651) 296-3353 or 1-800-657-3787 TTY: (651) 297-7206 or 1-800-366-4812 www.ag.state.mn.us

Better Business Bureau of Minnesota

(651) 699-1111 or 1-800-646-6222 www.mnd.bbb.org

National Fraud Information Center

1-800-876-7060 www.fraud.org

Charitable Giving

Attorney General's Office

Charities Division 1200 Bremer Tower 445 Minnesota Street St. Paul, MN 55101 (651) 296-3353 or 1-800-657-3787 TTY: (651) 296-1410 or 1-800-366-4812

Charities Review Council

(651) 224-7030 or 1-800-733-4483 www.smartgivers.org

Telecommunications

Federal Communications Commission

Consumer & Governmental Affairs Bureau Consumer Complaints 445 12th Street S.W. Washington, DC 20554 1-888-225-5322 www.fcc.gov

Public Utilities Commission

Metro Square, Suite 350 121 Seventh Place East St. Paul, MN 55101 (651) 296-0406 or 1-800-657-3782 TTY: (651) 297-1200 www.puc.state.mn.us

Minnesota Department of Commerce

Telecommunications Division 85 7th Place East, Suite 500 St. Paul, MN 55101-2198 Telephone: 651-296-4026 Fax: 651-297-7891 TTY: 800-627-3529 www.commerce.state.mn.us

Additional Consumer Information

Consumer Questions or Complaints

The Attorney General's Office answers questions about landlord and tenant rights, mobile homes, health care, cars, credit, unwanted mail and phone calls, and numerous other consumer issues. The Attorney General's Office also provides free mediation to resolve disputes between Minnesota consumers and businesses and uses information from consumers to enforce the state's consumer laws.

If you have a complaint, please contact the Attorney General's Office in writing at:

Minnesota Attorney General's Office 1400 Bremer Tower, 445 Minnesota Street St. Paul, MN 55101

Citizens can also receive direct assistance from a consumer specialist by calling: 651-296-3353 or 1-800-657-3787.

TTY numbers are: 651-297-7206 or 1-800-366-4812 (TTY numbers are for callers using teletypewriter devices.) Visit our website at: www.ag.state.mn.us.

Consumer publications listed below are available free of charge from the Attorney General's Office.

- The Car Handbook
- Citizen's Guide to Home Building and Remodeling
- Conciliation Court
- The Credit Handbook
- Guarding Your Privacy: Tips to Prevent Identity Theft
- The Home Buyer's Handbook
- The Home Seller's Handbook
- Landlords and Tenants: Rights and Responsibilities
- Managing Your Health Care
- The Manufactured Home Parks Handbook
- Minnesota's Car Laws
- The Phone Handbook
- Pyramid Schemes
- Probate and Planning: A Guide to Planning for the Future
- Seniors' Legal Rights



From the Office of Minnesota Attorney General Lori Swanson

Consumer Protection 445 Minnesota Street, Suite 1400 St. Paul, MN 55101

www.ag.state.mn.us



The Phone Handbook